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Petitioner South Texas Mortgage Corporation seeks review of
an adm nistrative action. For the reasons provided below, this

petition for review is DEN ED.

Backgr ound

Pursuant to 5THCQR R 47.5, the court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5TH QR R
47.5. 4.



Pursuant to Title Il of the National Housing Act, 12 U S. C
88 1707 et seq., the Federal Housing Admnistration (“FHA"), an
entity within the Departnent of Housing and Urban Devel opnent
(“HUD"), adm nisters a programto insure private |enders
(“rmortgagees”) against loss on single-famly honme nortgage | oans.
To qualify for FHA insurance, all nortgagees nust be approved by
HUD- - even those nortgagees whose principal activity is the
origination of nortgages for transfer to a third-party
underwiter sponsor, such as the petitioner-appellant in this
case. See 12 U.S.C. § 1707(b); 24 CF.R Part 202, 8§ 202.8;
MORTGAGEE APPROVAL HanDBOoKk 4060. 1 Rev-1, U.S. DeP' T oF Hous. & URBAN Dev.
88 2-14, 2-24, 6-3 [hereinafter HUD HanDBOX] .

In 1984, Rick Adans (“Adans”) and Peter Vel asco (“Vel asco”)
began working together in the San Antoni o nortgage industry. In
1992, the two incorporated InterAnericorp, Inc., d/b/la
| ndependent Mrtgage (“IA”). Each initially owed fifty percent
of 1A's stock. |A obtained approval fromHUD to issue FHA-backed
| oans soon after its incorporation, but in Septenber of 1998,
| As FHA approval was wthdrawn due to its failure to submt
requi red annual audited financial statenments and to pay the
requi red annual recertification fee. 1A did not recover FHA
approval at any point relevant to this case. In 1994, Adans
moved to Corpus Christi and opened a satellite office of I A under

t he nane | ndependent Mbrtgage Services (“IM5).



Two years later in Corpus Christi, Adans, acting al one,
i ncorporated the South Texas Mrrtgage Corporation, d/b/a
| ndependent Mortgage (“STMC’). Adans, the sole officer and
sharehol der of STMC, transferred his shares of A to STMC. In
early 1997, petitioner STMC gai ned HUD approval to originate FHA-
i nsured nortgages.

Sonmetinme in 1998 STMC and | A entered into a “l oan
origination agreenent” in which | A enpl oyees origi nated FHA-
insured |l oans for STMC. Under the agreenent, |A enployees took
applications fromborrowers, perforned various other |oan
origination functions, and submtted the loans to STMC s sponsors
for underwiting, all using STMC s HUD- approved identification
nunber. I n exchange, A retained all fees generated by these
| oan origi nations.

This | oan origination agreenent enabled A to remain
profitable and build up net worth so that 1A could reapply for
FHA approval. At the tine, Adans and Vel asco were good friends
wth a close personal and business relationship. Mre
i nportantly, perhaps, Velasco owed Adans a sizabl e anount of
nmoney- - al t hough Adans attenpted to di savow the existence of this

debt at the admi nistrative hearing?-and the profits generated

2 Vel asco’ s debt to Adans was caused by his default on a
conplicated conditional purchase agreenent for | A stock. At the
adm ni strative hearing Adans stated that once he reclained his I A
stock in June 1996, Vel asco’'s obligation to make further paynents
to himunder the stock purchase agreenent was nul lified.

However, Adans continued to accept paynents from Vel asco on the
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for 1A by this agreenent may have been intended to settle this
debt. Al of the loans at issue in this case originated under
this agreenent.

Beginning in July 2001, HUD s Quality Assurance Division
conducted an investigation of STMC s FHA-insured | oan origination
activity. In addition to the |loan origination agreenent outlined
above, this investigation also uncovered STMC s failure to
develop a Quality Control Plan. On July 25, 2002, HUD s
Mort gagee Review Board informed STMC that it was considering
i nposing civil noney penalties based on the results of this
investigation. HUD issued its conplaint to STMC detailing these
al | eged vi ol ati ons on August 26, 2003.

After discovery, an adm nistrative hearing was conducted on
March 4-5, 2004, in San Antonio. The admnistrative |aw judge
(“ALJ”) issued his Decision and Order on Septenber 3, 2004,
ruling in favor of HUD on all counts and inposing over $104, 000
in penalties on STMC.® On Cctober 1, 2004, STMC petitioned the

Secretary of HUD for review of the ALJ' s decision. On April 12,

st ock purchase agreenent after June 1996

3 Specifically, the ALJ held that by permtting 330 FHA-
insured |loans to be originated by persons enpl oyed el sewhere,
STMC knowi ngly and materially violated: 12 U S. C. § 1735f-
14(b) (1) (G, (H; 24 CF.R § 30.35(a)(1); HUD HanpBox 4060. 1
Rev-1; and Mortgagee Letters 95-36 and 00-15. |In addition, the
ALJ held that by failing to maintain and inplenment a Quality
Control Plan, STMC knowingly and materially violated: 12 U S. C
§ 1735f-14(b)(1)(O; 24 CF.R § 202.5(h); and HUD HANDBOXK
4060.1 Rev- 1.



2005, the Secretary’'s Designee, Camlle T. Pierce (“Designee
Pierce”), issued an Order on Secretarial Review anending the
order by decreasing the penalty to just over $33,000. STMC
petitions this Court for review of these orders.
1. Discussion
This court has jurisdiction under 12 U. S.C. § 1735f-
14(d) (1), which gives nortgagees such as STMC the right, “[a]fter

exhausting all admnistrative renedies,” to file “a witten
petition” with this court “praying that the Secretary’s

determ nation or order be nodified or set aside in whole or in
part.” The scope of our review of such a petition is defined by
t he general provisions of 5 U S.C. 8§ 706. See 12 U S.C. § 1735f-
14(d) (3) (stating that “[t] he decisions, findings, and

determ nations of the Secretary shall be reviewed pursuant to
section 706 of Title 5”).

STMC believes that this court should review the previous
adm ni strative decisions de novo. For a variety of reasons, de
novo review i s i nappropriate: the ALJ' s deci sion was
interpretative; it does not significantly revise HUD s previous
interpretations of any relevant regulation; nor does it anmount to

a new, substantive rule; nor does it anobunt to a rul emaking

deci si on. See, e.qg., ShellOfshore Inc. v. Babbit, 238 F.3d 622,

626-29 (5th Cr. 2001) (discussing the appropriate context for de

novo appell ate review of agency adjudi cative deci sions).



Therefore, this court nust exam ne the previous admnistrative
deci sions and uphold themif they were supported by “substanti al
evidence,” unless it finds that they were “arbitrary, capricious,
[or] an abuse of discretion,” as set forth under 5 U S. C

8§ 706(2). See, e.qg., Ctizens To Preserve Overton Park v. Vol pe,

401 U. S. 402, 413-416 (1971) (discussing the appropriate
situations for de novo, substantial evidence, and arbitrary and
capricious review).

HUD s argunent, upheld by both the ALJ and Desi gnee Pierce,
is that the | oan origination agreenent between | A and STMC
violated 24 C.F. R Part 202, HUD HanbBox 4060.1 Rev-1, and HUD s
general Mortgagee Letters 95-36 and 00-15 (“M. 95-36" and “M. 00-
15”"). The ALJ also found that STMC violated 24 C F. R 8§ 202.5(h)
and Chapter 6 of HUD Handbook 4060.1 Rev-1 by failing to
i npl ement a proper quality control plan. Designee Pierce
decreased the penalty based on STMC s inability to pay the anount
assessed by the ALJ, but this adjustnent did not represent a
nmodi fication of the AL)' s essential findings.

STMC argues that the ALJ' s decision was based on an
incorrect interpretation of M. 95-36. STMC believes that the ALJ
incorrectly relied upon M. 95-36 to find that taking a | oan
application was a “critical core function” of a full-time “loan
officer” and to further find that 1A was a “third party | oan
originator.” According to STMC, in using and defining these
terms, the ALJ departed fromsettled | aw and created confli ct
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W th pre-existing HUD regul ations. Specifically, STMC argues
that M. 95-36 is inprecise, full of anmbiguities, and rife with
undefined terns. STMC inplies that this anmbiguity and

i npreci sion was deliberate--that M. 95-36 was deliberately
drafted in an anbi guous and i nprecise fashion in order to fulfil
its purpose and permt nortgagees flexibility. Therefore, STMC
argues that the ALJ ignored the plain--albeit inprecisely plain--
meani ng and del i berately anbi guous intent of M. 95-36 when he
determ ned that the | A STMC | oan origi nation arrangenent was

pr ohi bi t ed.

STMC' s argunent ignores all other governing regul ati ons and
statutes, focusing solely upon a single HUD general regul atory
letter. Even on its own terns, the argunent is inplausible.
Contrary to STMC s conclusions, the taking of a | oan application
does seemto be a critical core function of a |loan officer, and
STMC presents no persuasive |egal or practical justification to
conclude otherwise. |In fact, this is quite arguably the
paramount function of a |loan officer; as the ALJ noted, the
initial intake of the |oan application may substantially affect
the nature and quality of the information that will ultinmately be
relied upon by the underwiter. STMC s argunent that M. 95- 36
represents a deliberate agency choice for anbiguity and
unrestrai ned nortgagee flexibility is simlarly inplausible; the

ALJ’s interpretation and the plain | anguage of the regul atory



letter are nmuch nore persuasive and dictate the contrary
concl usi on.

The greatest weakness of STMC s position, however, is the
evidence in the record which denonstrates that Adans and Vel asco
knew the | oan origination agreenent was illegal well before it
was uncovered by HUD. In fact, Adans and Vel asco appear to have
known that this arrangenent was illegal fromthe outset. Wrst
of all, Adans appears to have |lied about his know edge and
actions during the adm ni strative hearing.

I n concl usion, STMC has presented no reason to overturn the
conclusions of the ALJ as affirnmed by Designee Pierce. The
record is indisputable: STMC circunvented FHA requirenents
speci fying that properly trained, supervised, and accountable
personnel originate |loans. This m sconduct circunvented FHA
requi renents intended to ensure that personnel engaged in the
critical core function of taking |oan applications are conpetent,
properly trained, and supervised by the approved nortgagee. In
so doi ng, STMC exposed the FHA insurance fund to a high risk of
| oss, placing the risk of |loss of bad | oans squarely on the
taxpayer. The existence of these serious violations is supported
by substantial evidence, and the nodified penalty inposed by
Desi gnee Pierce is appropriate.

[, Concl usi on



For the reasons stated above, the petition for reviewis

DENI ED.



